2007

McKay Dee Credit Union v. Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

As provided by statute, the Court of Appeals has jurisdiction to review this matter resulting in this appeal pursuant to UTAH CODE ANN. §78-2a-3(3)(j). These issues were addressed in the trial court.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

ISSUE NUMBER 1. : Did the district court err in determining that Defendant Federal Home Loan Mortgage Company (“Freddie Mac”) is not liable in equity to Plaintiff McKay Dee Credit Union (“McKay Dee”) for unjust enrichment?

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard for review for this matter is that the appellate court should give no deference to the trial court’s conclusions of law and review the legal conclusion reached by the trial court for correctness. The factual findings of the trial court are reviewed on a clearly erroneous standard. See, Jeffs v. Stubbs, 970 P.2d 1234, 1244 (Utah 1998).

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS WHOSE INTERPRETATION ARE DETERMINATIVE

None.

STATUTES WHOSE INTERPRETATION ARE DETERMINATIVE

None.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

McKay Dee was the holder of a deed of trust for certain real property (the "Property") to secure a loan in the amount of \$30,000.00. Said obligation was junior to a deed of trust in the amount of \$175,000.00 which was eventually assigned to Freddie Mac. At all times the Property was worth more than the value of the said debts. In April of 2001, McKay Dee received a notice of trustee's sale from the first lienholder that the Property would be sold at trustee's sale on May 15, 2001. McKay Dee contacted a phone representative which was identified in the notice of trustee's sale, to ascertain the status of the May 15, 2001 sale. McKay Dee was advised that the sale had been postponed until May 18, 2001 to be held at the same time and same location.

McKay Dee prepared itself to defend its position by issuing a check in preparation to attend the trustee's sale and bid on the Property. McKay Dee attended the postponed sale on May 18, 2001, and when nobody else attended McKay Dee believed that the debtors had reinstated their mortgage with the first lienholder as they had on several other occasions prior to this time. This was further confirmed by the fact that the debtors continued to make their payments to McKay Dee, continued living in the Property, and informed McKay Dee that they had re-instated at that time. The debtors discontinued making monthly payments to McKay Dee in June 2003 and McKay Dee subsequently found out that the trustee's sale had apparently occurred May 17, 2001, one day earlier than the time that the sales line had informed McKay Dee that the sale was going to take place.

McKay Dee brought an action against Freddie Mac for unjust enrichment. R. 1-6. The trial court was unwilling to impose liability on Freddie Mac. R. 271. Furthermore, the trial court found that McKay Dee had not conferred a benefit upon Freddie Mac and therefore could not prevail on its unjust enrichment claim. R. 271-72. McKay Dee believes that the Second District Court was in error.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. On March 22, 1996, McKay Dee extended a home equity line of credit to David R. and Julie S. Call (the "Calls") not to exceed \$30,000.00. R. 203.
2. McKay Dee received from the Calls a deed of trust in return for the above loan. R. 203.
3. Said obligation was junior to a deed of trust in favor of the Bank of Utah issued in February of 1996 in the amount of \$175,000.00. R. 203.
4. McKay Dee accepted the deed of trust because they were informed that the Property had sufficient equity to protect its interest. R. 203.
5. At the time that McKay Dee extended its loan, the Property was worth approximately \$287,000.00 according to the information and appraisals provided to McKay Dee Credit Union. R. 203.
6. At the same time that McKay Dee extended the loan it also recorded a Request for Notice which entitled it to any notice of any action on senior encumbrances. R. 203.
7. The Bank of Utah loan was assigned to Wells Fargo Bank in April of 1998. R. 204.

8. Wells Fargo Bank later assigned said obligations to GMAC in July of 1998.

R. 204.

9. The Calls struggled in making their payments to the first lien holder and a notice of default was recorded on June 17, 1999 but was later canceled on September 7, 1999. Again, a new notice of default was recorded against the Calls with regard to the first mortgage as of January 12, 2000, which was once again canceled on April 26, 2000. R. 204.

10. A third notice of default on the Property was recorded on August 8, 2000 by the Defendant or its representative. R. 204.

11. A sale was scheduled for December of 2000 and McKay Dee intended to bid at that sale to protect its position. However, the Calls apparently made reinstatement arrangements prior to that sale being accomplished. R. 204.

12. In April of 2001, McKay Dee received again a notice of trustee's sale from the first lienholder that the Property would be sold at trustee's sale on May 15, 2001. R. 204.

13. McKay Dee prepared itself to defend its position by issuing a check in preparation to attend that trustee's sale and bid on the Property. R. 205.

14. When McKay Dee called the sales line, provided for in the notice of trustee's sale, to ascertain the status of the May 15, 2001 sale McKay Dee was advised that the sale had been postponed until May 18, 2001 to be held at the same time and same location. R. 205.

15. On or about May 17, 2001, GMAC assigned the first deed to Freddie Mac.

16. McKay Dee attended the postponed sale on May 18, 2001, and when nobody else attended McKay Dee believed that the debtors had once again reinstated their mortgage with the first lienholder as they had each prior time. This was further confirmed by the fact that the Calls continued to make their payments to McKay Dee, continued living in the Property, and informed McKay Dee that they had re-instated at that time. R. 205.

17. The Calls discontinued making monthly payments to McKay Dee in June 2003 and McKay Dee subsequently found out that the trustee's sale had apparently occurred May 17, 2001, one day earlier than the time that the sales line had informed McKay Dee that the sale was going to take place. R. 205.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In reaching its conclusion that it was unwilling to impose liability on Freddie Mac the trial court made the following finding of fact, "[i]t is not clear to this Court if Mr. Shirra (Vice-President of McKay Dee) wrote the wrong sale date down, or if GMAC provided the wrong date." R. 271. However, upon a closer examination of Mr. Shirra's recorded testimony and the other evidence before the trial court this finding of fact by the trial court is erroneous. Therefore, the trial court should have imposed liability upon Defendants.

Furthermore, in reasonably relying upon the information provided to them about the postponement of the trustee's sale McKay Dee was unable to defend its trust deed position and Freddie Mac was able to purchase the Property as the only bidder for the amount of \$183,344.61. R. 303, Bench Trial Transcript p. 7. By its

own admission Freddie Mac was able to then sell the Property for the approximate amount of \$269,900.00. R. 128. Therefore, the benefit conferred upon Freddie Mac was at least the profit of \$86,555.39 that they received in selling the Property. Freddie Mac had an appreciation or knowledge of the benefit received from McKay Dee and Freddie Mac's retention of the benefit under the circumstances surrounding the apparent trustee's sale would be inequitable without payment to McKay Dee for the amount due to it. Therefore, the trial court erred in not granting McKay Dee's unjust enrichment claim.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BECAUSE IT WAS CLEARLY ERRONEOUS TO CONCLUDE THAT MCKAY DEE HAD NOT BEEN GIVEN THE WRONG DATE OF THE TRUSTEE'S SALE.

Utah law is clear that a trustee's foreclosure sale is void when a defect or irregularity, "would have the effect of chilling the bidding and causing an inadequacy of the price". Concepts, Inc. v. First Sec. Realty Services, Inc., 743 P.2d 1158, 1159 (Utah 1987). Concepts and its progeny, *i.e.* Timm v. Dewsnup, 86 P.3d 699 (Utah 2003), and Occidental/Nebraska Fed. Savings Bank v. Mehr, 791 P.2d 217 (Utah App. 1990), arise from circumstances where trustee's sales were conducted with a valid notice of default, but an alleged irregularity in either: 1) a defect in the notice of sale itself (Concepts), 2) the timing of the notice of sale (Occidental), or the service of the notice of sale (Timm). Therefore, in this case the trial court should have imposed liability upon Freddie Mac if it concluded that

McKay Dee had received the wrong date for the trustee's sale because such an irregularity "would have the effect of chilling the bidding and causing an inadequacy of the price." Concepts, 743 P.2d at 1159.

In reaching its conclusion that it was unwilling to impose liability on Freddie Mac the trial court made the following finding of fact, "[i]t is not clear to this Court if Mr. Shirra (Vice-President of McKay Dee) wrote the wrong sale date down, or if GMAC provided the wrong date." R. 271. A close examination of Mr. Shirra's recorded testimony and the other evidence before the trial court demonstrates that this finding of fact was clearly erroneous.

Mr. Shirra testified that he called the sales line provided for in the notice of trustee's sale, to ascertain the status of the May 15, 2001 sale. R. 303, Bench Trial Transcript p. 41. "I was given the date that the sale was rescheduled for 5/18, May the 18th, which is three days later." R. 303, Bench Trial Transcript p. 41. This testimony is consistent with the testimony Mr. Shirra gave in his affidavit. R. 141. It is also consistent with the testimony he gave during his deposition. R. 244. Furthermore, Mr. Shirra's testimony is supported by the Notice of Sale. R. 192. Mr. Shirra testified that while listening to the message on the sales line he circled the date 5/15/2001 and then drew a line out to the side where he wrote the new date 5/18/2001. R. 303, Bench Trial Transcript p. 41. Also, Mr. Shirra's testimony is strengthened by the fact that he had a check prepared, R. 198, and attended the postponed sale on May 18, 2001. R. 205.

Freddie Mac has never presented any evidence to contradict Mr. Shirra's

testimony. In fact it should be noted that Freddie Mac's only defense to this pivotal fact is the disclaimer notice given at the beginning of the sales line recording, a defense that the trial court concluded to be wholly insupportable. R. 303, Bench Trial Transcript p. 114. Thus, in reaching its finding that it was not convinced that McKay Dee had been given the wrong date for the trustee's sale the only evidence that the trial court relied on was the evidence presented above along with Mr. Shirra's cross examination testimony. R. 271.

During cross examination Mr. Shirra was asked about the Notice of Sale with the handwriting indicating the sale date of May 18th, 2001. R. 303, Bench Trial Transcript p. 54. He again testified that this was his handwriting. R. 303, Bench Trial Transcript p. 54. He was then asked, "[i]s it possible that you could have written down the incorrect date for the sale?" R. 303, Bench Trial Transcript p. 54. He responded by again saying, "I wrote that down and so I got it from the sale line." R. 303, Bench Trial Transcript p. 54. It was only after being pressed on the issue by Freddie Mac's counsel several times that Mr. Shirra indicated, "[t]here is that possibility." "The same as the possibility of them having the wrong date." R. 303, Bench Trial Transcript p. 54. The fact that Mr. Shirra stated a possibility does not go to the weight or to the credibility of his testimony.

Taking this testimony together with all of Mr. Shirra's other testimony and all the evidence before the trial court it was clearly erroneous for the trial court to conclude that McKay Dee was not given the wrong date for the trustee's sale. Therefore, the trial court should have imposed liability upon Freddie Mac because

McKay Dee had been given the wrong date for the trustee's sale and that is the type of irregularity that, "would have the effect of chilling the bidding and causing an inadequacy of the price." Id.

II. MCKAY DEE'S UNJUST ENRICHMENT CLAIM SHOULD NOT HAVE BEEN DISMISSED BECAUSE MCKAY DEE CONFERRED A KNOWN BENEFIT UPON THE DEFENDANTS WHICH IF THEY RETAIN WHOULD BE WHOLLY INEQUITABLE.

The facts underlying an unjust enrichment claim are often complex and vary greatly from case to case. Allen v. Hall, 565 Utah Adv. Rep. 9 (Utah 2006), Desert Miriah, Inc. v. B & L Auto, Inc., 12 P.3d 580 (Utah 2000), Jeffs v. Stubbs, 970 P.2d 1234 (Utah 1998). Indeed, by its very nature, the unjust enrichment doctrine developed to handle fact situations, like the one present in this case, that do not fit within a particular legal standard but which nonetheless merit judicial intervention. Id., see also Restatement of Restitution, intro. n. (1937) (noting that narrow early common law causes of actions posed difficulties and required creation of chancery courts because "there were many situations in which one justly entitled to recover was not able to do so"). While the unjust enrichment doctrine has ancient roots, and courts have had a great deal of opportunity to apply it, the court's ability to state clearly the outcome-determinative factors remains elusive. Id. However, the rationale for granting equitable relief is that as a matter of reason and justice from the acts and conduct of the parties and circumstances surrounding a transaction, restitution need be provided for the purpose of bringing about justice. Id.

For example in the Jeffers case the Utah Supreme Court upheld the trial courts ruling that individuals who built improvements on land located in Hildale, Utah which they did not even own because the property was held in trust by the United Effort Plan Trust (“the UEP”) were able to recover for unjust enrichment. Jeffers, 970 P.2d at 1248. The trial court held that even though the individuals intended to benefit and would benefit from the improvements by occupying the property during their lifetimes, the individuals' services still conferred a direct, not incidental, benefit on the UEP and thus they were able to recover for them. Id. The Jeffers case is instructive that the cause of action of unjust enrichment is equitable in nature and should be broadly construed. The trial court rigidly applied the elements of unjust enrichment without looking at the broad picture. McKay Dee’s nonattendance at the trustee’s sale was unfairly induced by Defendants with inaccurate information. The non-attendance at the sale benefited Freddie Mac abundantly. Had McKay Dee been provided with accurate information, it would have attended the sale, and McKay Dee would have at least received the amount owed on the underlying note, if not more because the property was worth so much more. Instead, Freddie Mac received a huge unjust enrichment from McKay Dee Credit Union.

In Utah a party may prevail on an unjust enrichment theory by proving three elements: “(1) a benefit conferred on one person by another; (2) an appreciation or knowledge by the conferee of the benefit; and (3) the acceptance or retention by the conferee of the benefit under such circumstances as to make it

inequitable for the conferee to retain the benefit without payment of its value.”

American Towers Owners Assoc., Inc. v. CCI Mechanical, 930 P.2d 1182, 1192-93 (1996). Unjust enrichment of a person occurs when he has and retains money or benefits which in justice and equity belong to another. Id.

The trial court found that McKay Dee had not conferred a benefit upon Freddie Mac and therefore could not prevail on its unjust enrichment claim. R. 271-72. However, when looking at all the facts presented to the trial court its conclusion is not correct.

A. MCKAY DEE CONFERRED A BENEFIT UPON FREDDIE MAC.

In this case McKay Dee conferred a benefit upon Freddie Mac by not attending the trustee’s sale which apparently occurred May 17, 2001. R. 205. In April of 2001, McKay Dee received a notice of trustee’s sale from the first lienholder that the Property would be sold at trustee’s sale on May 15, 2001. R. 204. McKay Dee prepared itself to defend its position by issuing a check in preparation to attend the trustee’s sale and bid on the Property. R. 204. When McKay Dee called the sales line, provided for in the notice of trustee’s sale, to ascertain the status of the May 15, 2001 sale McKay Dee was advised that the sale had been postponed until May 18, 2001 to be held at the same time and same location. R. 205. Again, McKay Dee prepared itself to defend its position by issuing a check and attending the postponed sale on May 18, 2001. R. 205.

In reasonably relying upon the information provided to them about the postponement of the trustee's sale McKay Dee was unable to defend its position and Freddie Mac was able to purchase the Property as the only bidder for the amount of \$183,344.61. R. 303 Bench Trial Transcript p. 7. By its own admission Freddie Mac was able to then sell the Property for the approximate amount of \$269,900.00. R. 128. Therefore, the benefit conferred upon Freddie Mac was the profit of \$86,555.39 that Freddie Mac received in selling the Property.

B. FREDDIE MAC HAD APPRECIATION OR KNOWLEDGE OF THE BENEFIT RECEIVED FROM MCKAY DEE.

At the same time that McKay Dee extended the loan to the Calls it also recorded a Request for Notice which entitled it to any notice of any action on senior encumbrances. R. 203. McKay Dee received the previous notice of defaults recorded on June 17, 1999, January 12, 2000, and August 8, 2000 as well as the notice of trustee's sale in April of 2001. R. 204. By its own admissions Freddie Mac knew that the Property would most likely be sold to a third party because there was significant equity in it. R. 241. Therefore, Freddie Mac had an appreciation or knowledge of the benefit received from McKay Dee's not attending the apparent trustee's sale. Moreover, McKay Dee's failure to attend the sale was induced by Freddie Mac.

C. THE RETENTION BY FREDDIE MAC OF THE BENEFIT UNDER THE CIRCUMSTANCES SURROUNDING THE APPARENT TRUSTEE'S SALE WOULD BE INEQUITABLE WITHOUT PAYMENT TO MCKAY DEE.