2007

# McKay Dee Credit Union v. Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation, GMAC Mortgage Corporation : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

## **STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION**

The Court of Appeals has jurisdiction to review this matter pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §78-2a-3(2)(j).

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

1. Did the trial court err in determining that McKay Dee Credit Union (“McKay Dee”) had failed to meet its burden of proving that defendant GMAC Mortgage Corporation (“GMAC”) gave McKay Dee the wrong date for a postponed foreclosure sale?

2. Did the trial court err in determining that defendant Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corp. (“Freddie Mac”) is not liable in equity to McKay Dee for unjust enrichment?

## **STANDARD FOR REVIEW**

The standard for review of the trial court’s findings of fact is the clearly erroneous standard. See, Dep’t of Human Servs. Ex rel. Parker v. Irizarry, 945 P.2d 676, 678 (Utah 1997). The trial court’s conclusions of law are reviewed for correctness. See, Evans v. Board of County Commissioners of Utah County, 2004 UT App 256, 97 P.3d 697, 700.

**CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS WHOSE INTERPRETATIONS ARE  
DETERMINATIVE**

None.

**STATUTES WHOSE INTERPRETATIONS ARE DETERMINATIVE**

None.



## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Freddie Mac and GMAC adopt the statement provided by McKay Dee with three exceptions:

1. First, the facts determined by the trial court do not support McKay Dee's unqualified assertion in the last line of the first paragraph of McKay Dee's statement that McKay Dee was advised that the sale had been postponed until May 18, 2001.

2. Second, McKay Dee's statement is incomplete in that it indicates that McKay Dee brought an action against Freddie Mac for unjust enrichment. Actually, the case before the trial court consisted two cases, one where McKay Dee sued Freddie Mac and another where McKay Dee sued GMAC and First American Title Insurance Agency, Inc. ("First American"), consolidated by the trial court. Additionally, McKay Dee, although naming First American as a defendant and alleging that First American wrongfully foreclosed, apparently did not serve First America. No proof of service for First American was filed with the trial court.

3. Third, the statement fails to indicate that the trial court determined that McKay Dee had failed to meets its burden of proving that GMAC gave McKay Dee the wrong date for a postponed foreclosure sale.

## **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

Freddie Mac and GMAC adopt the statement provided by McKay Dee with the following exception:

1. With respect to statement 14 in the appellant's brief, when McKay Dee called the sales line, its representative, Mr. Cameron Clifford Shirra ("Shirra") wrote down that the sale as postponed until May 18, 2001. The evidence presented to the trial court was inconclusive on the question of whether Mr. Shirra was told that the sale was postponed until May 18, 2001 or he erroneously wrote down May 18, 2001. R. 271; R. 303, Bench Trial Transcript, p. 54.

## **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

There are three reasons why this Court should not address whether the trial court clearly erred when it found that McKay Dee failed to meet its burden of proving that GMAC gave McKay Dee the wrong date for the postponed foreclosure sale. First, McKay Dee failed to marshal the evidence that supports the trial court's finding. Second, the real issue posed by the trial court's factual finding is whether McKay Dee met its burden of proof to establish the fact – a burden that it did not meet. Finally, this issue is irrelevant to McKay Dee's only cause of action against Freddie Mac and GMAC – unjust enrichment. Such a factual finding would only be relevant to a cause of action for invalid or wrongful foreclosure – a cause of action that was only brought (but not pursued) by McKay Dee against the foreclosure trustee, First American.

The trial court's conclusion that McKay Dee could not demonstrate that it was entitled to compensation for unjust enrichment was also correct. First, the equitable claim of unjust enrichment lies only when a party has no recourse at the law. Second, the facts of this case do not support a finding that McKay Dee has proven the elements of unjust enrichment.

## ARGUMENT

### I. MCKAY DEE FAILED TO MEET ITS BURDEN OF MARSHALLING THE EVIDENCE SUPPORTING THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS OF FACT

In order to successfully challenge the trial court's finding of fact that "[i]t is not clear to the Court if Mr. Shirra wrote the wrong date for the sale down, or if G.M.A.C. provided the wrong date," McKay Dee must marshal the evidence in support of that finding and then demonstrate that, despite that evidence, the trial court's finding was against the clear weight of the evidence. In re Estate of Bartell, 776 P.2d 885 (Utah 1989). The appellant in Bartell, much like McKay Dee in this case, essentially reargued the facts submitted to the trial court, ignoring evidence supporting the trial court's finding.

"In order to properly discharge the [marshalling] duty . . ., the challenger must present, in comprehensive and fastidious order, every scrap of competent evidence introduced at trial which *supports* the very findings the appellant resists." West Valley City v. Majestic Inv. Co., 818 P.2d 1311, 1315 (Utah App. 1991). Where, as here, the appellant fails to properly discharge the marshalling duty, the appellate court must accept the trial court's findings as valid. Demetropoulos v. Vreeken, 754 P.2d 960, 963 (Utah App. 1988).

McKay Dee did not marshal the evidence supporting the trial court's findings in its opening brief. Specifically, it did not present evidence that Mr. Shirra was not a credible witness. Accordingly, the Court should accept the trial court's findings.

The testimony of McKay Dee's primary witness, Mr. Shirra, was inconsistent and contradictory. For example, under direct examination Mr. Shirra stated that he attended the foreclosure sale on May 15, 2001. R. 303, Bench Trial Transcript p. 40. However, in his deposition and under cross examination, Mr. Shirra admitted that he could not say whether he went to the sale on that date. R. 303, Bench Trial Transcript pp. 52-53. In fact, in view of his testimony that he called the foreclosure trustee's bid line on that date, it is unlikely that he attended the sale. If he had, he would have heard the Trustee postponing the sale and known that the sale was to be held on May 17, 2001. He would not have had to call the hotline if he had heard the postponement of the sale on May 15, 2001.

This inability to accurately remember dates is important because it bolsters the admission Mr. Shirra made on cross examination. His testimony at trial under direct examination was that, when he called the sale hotline on May 15, 2001, he was given the date of May 18, 2001 as the new date for the foreclosure sale. R. 303, Bench Trial Transcript p. 41. However, when cross examined, Mr. Shirra admitted that he may have written down the wrong date. R. 303, Bench Trial Transcript p. 54. McKay Dee failed to mention this inconsistency and explain its importance to Mr. Shirra's admission on cross examination. Since this was important evidence bearing on the question of whether the trial court's finding was in error, and it was not marshaled by McKay Dee, McKay Dee failed in its duty to comprehensively present every scrap of evidence introduced at trial that supported the trial court's findings.

II. MCKAY DEE FAILED TO MEET ITS BURDEN OF PROVING THAT FREDDIE MAC, GMAC OR FIRST AMERICAN PROVIDED THE INCORRECT DATE OF SALE.

The issue in this case is not whether the evidence supports the trial court's finding that it was not clear whether Mr. Shirra incorrectly wrote down the date of the sale or if it was incorrectly given to him. The issue is whether the evidence presented would support the trial court's implicit finding that McKay Dee failed to meet its burden of proof that Freddie Mac, GMAC or First American gave the incorrect date to McKay Dee.

To support its argument that the trial court clearly erred when it found that it was not clear that Mr. Shirra was given the wrong date or he incorrectly wrote it down, McKay Dee claims that Mr. Shirra's testimony is strengthened by the fact that he had a check prepared and attended the sale on May 18, 2006. Appellant's Opening Brief, p. 11. That fact supports a conclusion that McKay Dee believed the postponed sale was set for May 18, 2001 rather than May 17, 2001, but it does not, without more, support a conclusion that Freddie Mac, GMAC or the foreclosure trustee, First American, provided a wrong date.

III. MCKAY DEE DID NOT ALLEGE A WRONGFUL FORECLOSURE CLAIM AGAINST FREDDIE MAC AND GMAC.

The complaints filed against Freddie Mac and GMAC by McKay Dee sought relief only for unjust enrichment. R. 001-006, 010-015. The factual finding regarding whether Mr. Shirra was given the wrong date is irrelevant to the elements of unjust enrichment. That is evident from McKay Dee's brief which treats this factual finding as a separate

issue from the argument about whether the elements of unjust enrichment have been shown. Rather, this finding would be relevant to a cause of action for wrongful or invalid foreclosure.

Properly, McKay Dee did not allege a claim for wrongful foreclosure sale Freddie Mac nor GMAC because neither conducted the foreclosure sale. Relief based on wrongful foreclosure could only have been sought against the foreclosure trustee, First American. Although McKay Dee did complain of wrongful foreclosure against First American (R. 010-015), it failed to serve or pursue First American. Because of its failure to complain of this cause of action against Freddie Mac or GMAC, the issue of the trial court's factual finding need not be addressed because it is irrelevant to the sole cause of action actually brought against Freddie Mac and GMAC, viz., unjust enrichment.

#### IV. MCKAY DEE'S EQUITABLE UNJUST ENRICHMENT CLAIM WAS PROPERLY DISMISSED BECAUSE MCKAY DEE HAS A REMEDY AVAILABLE AT LAW.

The equitable remedy of unjust enrichment lies only where the aggrieved party has no remedy at law. Five F, L.L.C. v. Heritage Savings Bank, 2003 UT App 373, 81 P.3d 105,109; American Towers Owners v. CCI Mechanical, 930 P.2d 1182, 1193 (Utah 1996); SLW/Utah, Lysenko v. Sawaya, 973 P.2d 445, 449 (Utah App. 1999). In Lysenko, the Court upheld the trial court's denial of an unjust enrichment claim, observing that Lysenko had already obtained the remedy of a money judgment.

McKay Dee not only had an adequate remedy at law, but it chose to exercise it. After learning of the foreclosure sale, it sued its borrowers and obtained a deficiency judgment on which it has collected substantial sums. R. 81, 87.

McKay Dee's complaint against Freddie Mac and GMAC sought damages for unjust enrichment for the amount of \$25,413.68. R. 001-006, 010-015. McKay Dee's initial disclosures indicate that it seeks damages against Freddie Mac and GMAC in the approximate amount of \$25,000. R. 267. At trial, John Palmer ("Palmer") indicated that McKay Dee had collected \$25,643.62 from the borrowers since obtaining a deficiency judgment against them. R. 303, Bench Trial Transcript p. 81, 87.

McKay Dee's brief suggests that it is inequitable to allow Freddie Mac or GMAC to retain the "windfall" that resulted from taking the property back through foreclosure and subsequently selling it for a price in excess of what Freddie Mac or GMAC were owed. In other words, McKay Dee argues that it is unfair that Freddie Mac or GMAC profited by eventually receiving more than they were owed when McKay Dee did not. The doctrine of unjust enrichment is designed to provide a party a remedy when no other exists, not to ensure that one party does not profit more than another.

McKay Dee is not without a remedy. It has a judgment against its borrowers and is collecting on it. What would be inequitable would be to allow McKay Dee, the junior lienholder which failed to appear at the foreclosure sale to protect its interest, to obtain a "windfall" after having obtained judgment against its borrowers and after having



collected on that judgment an amount in excess of the amount it was owed at the time of the foreclosure sale.

V. MCKAY DEE DID NOT SATISFY THE ELEMENTS OF UNJUST ENRICHMENT.

The three elements of unjust enrichment are:(1) a benefit conferred on one person by another; (2) an appreciation or knowledge by the conferee of the benefit; and (3) the acceptance or retention by the conferee of the benefit under such circumstances as to make it inequitable for the conferee to retain the benefit without payment of its value.

Berrett v. Stevens, 690 P.2d 553, 557 (Utah 1984).

A. McKay Dee did not confer a benefit on Freddie Mac or GMAC.

In Baugh v. Darley, 184 P.2d 335 (Utah 1947) (distinguished on other grounds), a landowner orally contracted to sell land to a buyer who, in turn, entered into a contract to sell the property to a third party at a profit. The landowner refused to honor the oral contract with the buyer and, instead, sold it to the third party at a better price. The Supreme Court ruled that the buyer did not confer a benefit on the landowner. Rather, the landowner received the profit as a result of his own negotiations, with only the incidental benefit of the buyer notifying the third party that the property was for sale.

Freddie Mac and GMAC were entitled to foreclose on the property in the event of default and to bid on the property at the foreclosure sale. After purchasing the property at the foreclosure sale and, eventually obtaining possession of the property from the borrowers, they sold it. The profits from that sale were the result of their efforts in lending to the borrowers, exercising the remedy of foreclosure after the borrowers

defaulted, purchasing the property at the foreclosure sale, evicting the borrowers and selling the property. The profit was the result of their efforts, not McKay Dee's failure to attend the foreclosure sale.

The SLW/Utah, Jeffs v. Stubbs, 970 P.2d 1234 (Utah 1998) case relied upon by the appellant for the proposition that unjust enrichment is equitable in nature and should be applied broadly, also stands for the proposition that the trial court in an unjust enrichment case should be afforded a broad degree of discretion in its decision. SLW/Utah, Jeffs, 970 P.2d at 1245. The trial court found that McKay Dee had not conferred any benefit on Freddie Mac nor GMAC. R. 271. That finding should be afforded broad discretion. The facts and arguments presented by McKay Dee on this point in its brief are the same ones made to the trial court. Appellant's Opening Brief, pp. 15 and 16 and the accompanying cites to the record. The trial court heard that evidence and those arguments and decided differently. Its decision should be upheld absent a showing of abuse of discretion. McKay Dee has made no such showing.

**B.**     Since McKay Dee did not confer a benefit on Freddie Mac or GMAC, neither of them could have known of or appreciated the benefit.

At the time of the foreclosure sale, Freddie Mac and GMAC did not know (a) why McKay Dee was not bidding or (b) that the property would sell for a profit following the foreclosure sale. Therefore, they did not know of or appreciate a benefit.

**C.**     It is just for Freddie Mac and GMAC to retain the profits from the sale of the property.

First, McKay Dee has not proven that it was harmed, because it has not proven that it would have bid higher than any other bidder at the sale. If another bidder had bid more than McKay Dee was willing to pay, McKay Dee not have profited from purchasing and re-selling the property.

Second, McKay Dee, not Freddie Mac or GMAC, is responsible for the predicament in which it finds itself. McKay Dee admits that it assumed that the borrowers had reinstated the loan, because (1) no one showed up at the foreclosure sale on May 18, 2001, (2) the borrowers had a history of reinstating the loan, (3) the borrowers continued to make payment on the home, (4) the borrowers continued to remain in the home and (5) the borrowers informed McKay Dee that they had reinstated. R. 303, Bench Trial Transcript pp. 38, 39, 42 and 44. Clearly, McKay Dee did not make its assumption based on anything Freddie Mac or GMAC did or said. It would be unjust to require Freddie Mac or GMAC to bear the burden of McKay Dee's mistaken assumption. McKay Dee could have called the foreclosure trustee hotline to confirm that the loan had been reinstated, just as it called to learn that the sale had been postponed in the first place.

Third, as previously discussed, McKay Dee has successfully pursued a deficiency claim against the borrowers. It could also have pursued a wrongful foreclosure claim against First American. Since it has adequate remedies at law, the invocation of an equitable remedy is not just.

Fourth, McKay Dee is also at fault for its own predicament because of its failure to confirm whether a sale had occurred. That failure removed any opportunity for the

foreclosure trustee to correct any error. Had McKay Dee contacted the trustee, Freddie Mac or GMAC when no one appeared for the foreclosure sale, there would have been an opportunity to remedy the situation by voiding and re-noticing the sale to provide McKay Dee with an opportunity to bid. Once the property was subsequently sold to a third party, however, that opportunity was lost.

### CONCLUSION

The trial court did not clearly err in determining that McKay Dee failed to meet its burden of proof relative to the wrong foreclosure date on which McKay Dee relied to its detriment. The equitable remedy of unjust enrichment is inappropriate in this case because McKay Dee did not confer a benefit on Freddie Mac or GMAC which would warrant equitable intervention. Even if, however, McKay Dee had conferred such a benefit, its demonstrated ability at the law to recover its damages from its borrowers bars the imposition of the equitable remedy of unjust enrichment.